IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

12/27/2023

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0171

No. DA 22-0171

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

CHINA ROSE DAWN DAVIS,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County, the Honorable Ashley Harada, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

CHAD WRIGHT
Appellate Defender
DEBORAH S. SMITH
Assistant Appellate Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147
debbiesmith@mt.gov
(406) 444-9505

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT AUSTIN KNUDSEN

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. China Davis hatched a vague, ill-conceived plan to steal Carl Archer's methamphetamine with the assistance of James Eder and Charlie Reimers. Everyone was very high on meth. In the course of the theft, Eder murdered Carl with a shotgun blast to the head. After killing Carl, Eder hurriedly escaped with Reimers, the getaway driver, stranding China in a motel room with Carl's body, Carl's girlfriend who was not involved in the planned heist, and the methamphetamine. There was no dispute how or where Carl died.

Did the District Court abuse its discretion in China's felony murder trial, where robbery by accountability was the predicate offense, when it admitted through a detective's testimony, over objection, nine graphic photographs of Carl Archer's fatal head wound and brain splatter around the room, which were not relied upon by the medical examiner and whose probative value was not explained to the jury?

2. Should the judgment be amended to change China's restitution obligation from one she solely bears to one shared jointly and severally with James Eder and Charlie Reimers, as the parties agreed

and as established in the documents supporting the State's restitution request?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged China Davis with one count of deliberate homicide with a weapons enhancement under the felony murder rule, in violation of Mont. Code Ann. §§ 45-5-102(1)(b), 46-18-221. (D.C. Doc. 3.) The case proceeded to a five-day jury trial. (D.C. Docs. 58 – 60, 64, 68 (Minutes).¹)

Before trial, the Defense moved in limine to prohibit the State from showing the jury graphic photographs of Carl Archer's head injuries and brain splatter from the fatal gunshot wound inflicted by James Eder. (D.C. Docs. 29, 33.) The motion was argued during trial outside the presence of the jury; the District Court orally denied the motion. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 153 – 60.) Subsequently, the Defense again

 $^{^1}$ The court reporter prepared separate transcripts for each day of trial. The title page of each day of the trial lists "Trial – Day One," "Trial – Day Two," and so on. However, the court reporter mistakenly used "Trial – Day 3" twice – first on the third day of trial and then again on the fourth day of trial. The record is clear trial occurred between September 13-17, 2021, inclusive. To minimize confusion, the date is used herein when citing individual trial transcripts.

objected to each photograph during trial; the District Court overruled the objections again. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 175 - 76, 187.)

The jury convicted China of deliberate homicide under the felony murder rule and found the crime was committed with a weapon. $(09/17/2021~{\rm Tr.~at~65-66;~D.C.~Doc.~72.})$

At sentencing, the District Court imposed a prison sentence of 80 years for the homicide and a consecutive five-year sentence for the weapons enhancement. (02/03/2022 Tr. ("Sent. Tr.") at 49, attached hereto as App. A; D.C. Doc. 94 at 1 ("Judgment"), attached hereto as App. B.) The District Court also ordered restitution of \$9,945.67. (App. A at 50; App. B at 3.) By comparison, James Eder, who shot and killed Carl Archer, received a cumulative 55-year prison sentence for deliberate homicide and the weapons enhancement. (App. A at 46.) Charlie Reimers, the getaway driver who provided the truck and shotgun Eder used in the murder and the only white person involved, received a 15-year prison sentence with 10 years suspended for robbery by accountability, not felony murder.² (App. A at 47.)

² The judge went so far as to state, "I don't think that Mr. Reimer's sentence should really be considered in that he was not as much involved in the entire encounter[.]" (App. A at 47.)

Eder and Reimers shared joint and several liability for the \$9,945.67 restitution obligation. (D.C. Doc. 85 at 2, citing the "Restitution Recap" attached to China's presentence investigation report ("PSI"). (D.C. Doc. 88.3) The State requested China's restitution to be imposed jointly and severally with Eder and Reimers; the Defense agreed. (Sent. Tr. at 11; D.C. Docs. 85 at 1 – 2, 9; 87 at 1.) However, the District Court imposed the entire restitution amount on China alone, irrespective of whether Eder or Reimers also paid full restitution. (App. A at 50; App. B at 3.)

China timely appealed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Background

China Davis has had a rough go of things in life. Removed with her twin sister from their biological parents before the age of one due to abuse and drug use by their parents, China and her sister bounced around the foster care system until they were eight years old when they were adopted by the Davis family. (09/16/2021 Tr. at 72; Sent. Tr. at

 $^{^3}$ The PSI includes confidential information protected from public disclosure under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-113. The restitution amount is publicly disclosed elsewhere in the record.

13; D.C. Doc. 87 at 1-2.) Despite learning disabilities, several mental health diagnoses, and bullying, China did well in school in special education programs. (09/16/2021 Tr. at 74-75.4)

During her senior year of high school, China left the Davis household due to abuse. (09/16/2021 Tr. at 73; D.C. Doc. 88 at 8.)

Afterward, she lived with her boyfriend at the time and graduated from high school in 2008. China later completed some college courses.

(09/16/2021 Tr. at 72 – 73; D.C. Docs. 87 at 2; 88 at 8.)

The death of China's biological mother in 2011 sent China into a tailspin. (D.C. Doc. 87 at 2.) She became involved in two abusive relationships during which time she started using methamphetamine. Her use of methamphetamine and alcohol escalated over the years.

(D.C. Docs. 87 at 2 – 4; 88 at 6, 8.) China has endured periods of homelessness as an adult. (09/16/2021 Tr. at 76; D.C. Doc. 87 at 4.)

China and Carl

In about June 2020, China met Carl Archer, a drug dealer in Billings. Her meth use increased substantially after she met Carl.

⁴ Additional psychological information is revealed within China's PSI. (D.C. Doc. 88 at 5.)

China helped Carl make meth sales in Wolf Point and Carl "paid" her with an ounce of meth each time they went to Wolf Point. China used all the meth Carl gave her, even though she testified an ounce of meth was worth \$5,000. (09/16/2021 Tr. at 75 - 81.)

On China's last trip to Wolf Point with Carl, Carl abandoned her at a gas station convenience store after he told her to go inside and buy him a sandwich and a soda. Carl had not paid China for this trip even though she had helped him make sales. China felt Carl owed her an ounce of meth. (09/16/2021 Tr. at 84; 09/17/2021 Tr. at 17 – 18.)

Eder Murders Carl

Now back in Wolf Point, China met James Eder, another drug dealer from Billings trying to make sales in Wolf Point. Eder brought China with him back to Billings the next day. They began living together right away and Eder started controlling China's life. (09/16/2021 Tr. at 84-94.)

One evening China met up with a friend of hers, Morgan Long, in a room at the Days Inn in Billings. China noticed Carl's jacket in the room and asked Morgan if she could hang out in the room with her and wait for Carl to return. Morgan agreed and eventually Carl returned with meth. China still wanted the meth she felt Carl owed her. (09/16/2021 Tr. at 95 - 97, 106; 09/17/2021 Tr. at 18 - 19.)

Meanwhile, Eder, who was jealous of China's relationship with Carl, had tracked her through her phone to the Days Inn. China told Eder she was with Morgan in Carl's hotel room and was planning to stay there. She and Eder had had a falling out earlier in the day. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 34, 61 - 63; 09/16/2021 Tr. at 97 - 101.)

China got the idea to steal a three-ounce rock of meth Carl brought back with him to the motel room. She continued to believe Carl owed her for not paying her for their last trip together to Wolf Point and for stranding her there. China texted Eder to suggest stealing Carl's meth. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 36; 09/16/2021 Tr. at 106 – 07.)

Eder enlisted the help of his friend, Charlie Reimers, to assist with the heist. Reimers, yet another Billings drug dealer, had a vehicle and a shotgun. Indeed, Reimers was the only one of the three codefendants who had a deadly weapon readily accessible and apparently happy to contribute it. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 36; 09/16/2021 Tr. at 109, 112.)

Back in the hotel room, Carl told China and Morgan they were going to move to a different hotel for the rest of the night. The three of them loaded into Carl's Lincoln Continental with their belongings. (09/16/2021 Tr. at 103 – 05.) Reimers and Eder followed Carl, China, and Morgan to a casino, Wal-Mart, and finally to Tiger Town Inn in Ballantine. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 40 – 46; 09/16/2021 Tr. at 108 – 13.) Although Carl was suspicious they were being followed while driving out to Ballantine, China falsely told him he was being paranoid and no one was following them. All the while, China was texting Eder about her whereabouts. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 44 – 49; 09/16/2021 Tr. at 113 – 14.) Everybody was very high on meth during the entire evening. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 40; 09/16/2021 Tr. at 102, 105, 116.)

When they got to Tiger Town Inn, Carl, China, and Morgan unloaded their belongings and Wal-Mart purchases from Carl's car and took them into Carl's motel room. (09/15/2021 Tr. at 11 – 12, 58; 09/16/2021 Tr. at 114; Exh. 13.) Meanwhile, Reimers and Eder drove past the motel to Worden and pulled into a random alleyway to wait. Following some messaging between Eder and China in which China

advised Eder where she was, Reimers and Eder drove to Tiger Town. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 47 - 49; 09/15/2021 Tr. 114 - 15.)

Reimers stopped the van beside the gas pumps, while Eder got out and walked around back to the motel rooms. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 50 - 51; 09/15/2021 Tr. at 13 - 16, 58 - 60; Exh's. 14A - D.) As he approached the door to Carl's motel room, Eder held the shotgun up to his shoulder ready to fire, even though China had not mentioned shooting anyone. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 65; 09/15/2021 Tr. at 17; Exh. 14D; 09/16/2021 Tr. at 117.) She simply wanted Eder to help her steal meth she felt Carl owed her. Reimers waited a few seconds in the van and then began inching forward behind Eder toward Carl's motel room. (09/15/2021 Tr. at 14, 16 - 17, 19; Exh. 14A - D.)

China testified at trial that Eder knocked and walked in the room. After Eder and Carl yelled at each other for a few seconds, Eder shot Carl in the head. (09/16/2021 Tr. at 119-23.) Eder testified the gun accidentally went off as he and Carl tussled over the gun after Eder entered. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 51-52.) It is undisputed that Carl immediately collapsed from the shotgun blast into his eye, after which Eder said, "Oh, fuck," and ran out of the room without China or the

meth. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 52 - 53, 145; 09/16/2021 Tr. at 124 - 25.) Eder was in the room only about 30 seconds. By the time he exited, Reimers had pulled up to the room door in the van. Eder jumped in the passenger seat, still holding the gun. Reimers sped away from the motel toward Worden. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 53; 09/15/2021 Tr. at 17 - 19, 61; Exh's. <math>14C - D.)

A few seconds later, China and Morgan exited the room carrying bags of their things. (09/15/2021 Tr. at 16-17; Exh's. 14A-D.) China grabbed Carl's methamphetamine from the pocket of the pants he was wearing before he took them off to lie down in bed. (09/15/2021 Tr. at 17-18; 09/16/2021 Tr. at 125.) Both women walked down the road together in the opposite direction that Reimers drove. (09/15/2021 Tr. at 15-19, 62-63; Exh's. 14A-D., 204-207.) China texted Eder to return and pick her up, but Reimers refused to do so. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 54.)

China and Morgan had not walked far when Sergeant Ketch saw them at about 3:36 a.m., walking along the roadside with their garbage bags of stuff. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 159; 09/15/2021 Tr. at 16 - 17, 64 - 65.) China dropped the baggie of meth on the ground out of sight and told

the sergeant and an accompanying deputy that her friend Carl Archer had just been shot and killed by James Eder. (09/13/2021 Tr. at 160; 09/14/2021 Tr. at 101 - 04, 109 - 12; 09/15/2021 Tr. at 65 - 66.) China was taken in for questioning later that morning. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 85 - 89.) Law enforcement arrested Eder and Reimers that same day. (09/13/2021 Tr. at 180 - 83, 186 - 87; 09/14/2021 Tr. at 56.)

Additional facts pertinent to each argument are presented below.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

"We review a district court's evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion. . . . A district court abuses its discretion when it acts arbitrarily without the employment of conscientious judgment or exceeds the bounds of reason, resulting in substantial injustice. . . . To the extent an evidentiary ruling is based on a conclusion of law, we review whether the court correctly interpreted the law." *State v. Oliver*, 2022 MT 104, ¶ 18, 408 Mont. 519, 510 P.3d 1218 (citations, internal quotations omitted.

Criminal restitution orders are reviewed for compliance with §§ 46-18-241 through -249, MCA. *State v. Pierre*, 2020 MT 160, ¶ 10, 400 Mont. 283, 466 P.3d 494 (citations omitted).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court abused its discretion by admitting nine photographs into evidence that depicted Carl's head injuries and his brain splatter around the motel room after Eder murdered him. The State did not tell the jury why the explicit and distasteful photos were probative of any element in the felony murder charge. The medical examiner did not rely on the photos during his testimony regarding the manner of Carl's death. And there was no dispute concerning who murdered Carl or where he died.

The State introduced over 200 other exhibits into evidence, the vast majority of which were photographs of the crime scene to which the Defense did not object. The objected-to photos lacked probative value, were unduly prejudicial to China, and served only to arouse the jury's sympathy for the deceased and against China. China's conviction should be reversed due to the erroneous, unduly prejudicial admission of the nine photographs.

The District Court illegally imposed the entire restitution amount of \$9,945.67 on China alone, even though Eder and Reimers already jointly and severally owed the same \$9,945.67 restitution due to their

convictions. Imposing the entire amount again, this time solely on China, would result in double payment to the victims and would constitute additional punishment for China. Neither outcome is authorized by law. If the Court does not vacate or reverse China's conviction, it should remand to the District Court with orders to change the restitution in China's judgment to be shared jointly and severally with James Eder and Charlie Reimers.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court abused its discretion by admitting nine graphic photographs of Carl Archer's head injuries and brain splatter.

A. Background facts.

At China's trial, the State offered more than 200 exhibits. (D.C. Doc. 70 (listing exhibits).) Just one of the State's exhibits was refused. (D.C. Doc. 70, Exh. 93 (handwritten letter from Eder to China); 09/14/2021 Tr. at 189.) All but about a dozen of the exhibits are photographs or videos. Defense Counsel objected to nine photographic exhibits, i.e., Exhibits 60, 61, 65, 87, 88, 94, 95, 97, and 98. These nine photographs graphically displayed Carl's head wounds and his brain matter splattered around the motel room after Eder murdered him with

a shotgun blast through his eye. (D.C. Docs. 29, 33; 09/14/2021 Tr. at 153 - 60, 175 - 76, 187.)

Counsel argued those particular photos were "irrelevant, unnecessary, and [] cumulative" and their prejudice outweighed the probative value under Mont. R. Evid. 401, 402, and $403.^5$ Counsel contended "the autopsy photo and the evidence from the officers who investigate[d] the scene are more than enough evidence to establish where and how he [Carl] died[,]" remarking China was not charged with shooting Carl and there was no dispute as to how Carl died. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 153-54.) The Defense contended the photos were being offered simply to arouse the sympathy of the jury and emphasized they only objected to the ones showing brain matter. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 154, 156.)

The Prosecutor retorted, "[T]he State should not be muzzled or have to sanitize its case[,]" noting it had to meet its burden to prove China guilty of deliberate homicide under the felony murder rule.

 $^{^5}$ Counsel also cited generally to $State\ v.\ Azure,\ 181\ Mont.\ 47,\ 52,\ 591\ P.2d\ 1125,\ 1129\ (1979);\ State\ v.\ Henry,\ 241\ Mont.\ 524,\ 531,\ 788$ P.2d 316, 320 (1990); $State\ v.\ Close,\ 267\ Mont.\ 44,\ 47-48,\ 861\ P.2d\ 1312,\ 1314-15\ (1994).\ (09/14/2021\ Tr.\ at\ 153,\ 156.)$

(09/14/2021 Tr. at 155.) The State contended the challenged photos were relevant, probative, and not "unfairly or unduly prejudicial to the Defendant." (09/14/2021 Tr. at 155 – 56.) The State denied it would introduce such photographs "to shock the jury into a conviction. None of that has to do with the State proving the elements. . . . [T]he Defense is attempting . . . to muzzle the State's case in chief and to essentially underwhelm the jury and completely ignore the fact that this is a homicide case." (09/14/2021 Tr. at 157.)

The District Court overruled the Defense objection to the photos. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 157-60, attached hereto as App. C.) The judge found the photos probative and not unduly or unfairly prejudicial, reasoning:

[T]he jury has the need to understand what occurred that evening and how things came to be. And I think that if they can see the room and they can see the crime scene, they can see the decedent, then they will have a better understanding.

. . .

... [O]bviously counsel is experienced enough to know that we don't belabor the photos of the decedent.

We don't leave them on the screen and then move on to another topic. We show them, we take them down. We show them, we take them down. Because the jury doesn't need to sit and stare at that kind of thing.

(App. C at 157 – 59.) To support its ruling, the District Court cited State v. Sigler, 210 Mont. 248, 688 P.2d 749 (1984) (en banc), overruled in part on other grounds State v. Rothacher, 272 Mont. 303, 310, 901 P.2d 82, 87 (1995) (en banc), and State v. Kills on Top, 243 Mont. 56, 793 P.2d 1273 (1990) (en banc).

The District Court admitted the nine graphic photographs, along with nearly 100 other photos, through the testimony of Detective Fritz

In questioning Fritz about Exh. 95, the Prosecutor mistakenly referred to the exhibit as "96." The Prosecutor obviously misspoke because when asking Fritz to describe the photo, Fritz stated, "You can see the victim's head, the top of his head." (09/21/2021 Tr. at 190.) Carl's severely wounded head is visible in Exh. 95, not Exh. 96.

⁶ The Prosecutor cited *Sigler* and *Kills on Top* to support the State's argument for admitting the photographs. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 155, 157.)

 $^{^{7}}$ Exh's. 60, 61, and 65 were admitted at 09/14/2021 Tr. at 175-76. Exh's. 60 and 61 were published to the jury at 09/14/2021 Tr. at 176-77. Exh. 65 was published to the jury at 09/14/2021 Tr. at 178. Exh's. 87, 88, 94, 95, 97 and 98 were admitted at 09/14/2021 Tr. at 186-87. Exh's 87 and 88 were published to the jury at 09/14/2021 Tr. at 187-88. Exh's 94, 95, 97, and 98 were published to the jury at 09/14/2021 Tr. at 190-91.

at the end of the second day of trial. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 162 - 206.) Fritz's other photographs that day included numerous views of the outside of the Tiger Town Inn and its gas station and convenience store. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 164 - 75; Exh's. 37 - 59.) The remainder of Fritz's photos that day were 40 pictures showing the disheveled state inside of the motel room as detectives discovered it immediately following Carl's murder. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 175 - 92; Exh's. 60 - 100.) The nine objected-to photographs were among this group of 40 exhibits.

Thus, there were 31 photos from inside the messy motel room admitted and published to the jury. These exhibits included pictures of blood in the room, pieces of Carl's shattered eyeglasses scattered about, and Carl's feet and lower legs lying between the two beds. (D.C. Doc. 70, Exh's 62, 64, 73 - 86, 89, 96, 99, 100.) All 31 exhibits were admitted and published to the jury without objection from the Defense. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 175 - 92.)

Fritz testified immediately *after* Dr. Kurtzman, who performed Carl's autopsy. (09/14/2021 Tr. at 134 – 152.) Through Dr. Kurtzman, the State introduced an x-ray of Carl's head showing pellets in his skull from the shotgun wound. Dr. Kurtzman discussed how pellets in

shotgun pellet scattered throughout Carl's head upon impact with his skull. (Exh. 31; 09/14/2021 Tr. at 141-44.) Dr. Kurtzman also introduced a photograph of the pellets he recovered from Carl's head during the autopsy, as well as the actual shot cup, wadding, and pellets. (Exh's. 32-35; 09/14/2021 Tr. at 147-48.) The Defense did not object to Kurtzman's testimony or the exhibits admitted during his testimony.

The State's next witness after Fritz was Detective Charbonneau, who displayed for the jury the shotgun Eder used to murder Carl. $(09/15/2021~{\rm Tr.}$ at 36-38; Exh. 156.) Further, at the beginning of the second day of trial, before the testimony of Kurtzman or Fritz, Eder himself testified about shooting Carl and watching "a piece of the top of his scalp come off" and then "haul ass out of there." $(09/14/2021~{\rm Tr.}$ at 52-53.) Eder admitted he already had pled guilty to deliberate homicide for murdering Carl. $(09/14/2021~{\rm Tr.}$ at 56-57.) He hoped his judge would take his testimony against China into consideration at his sentencing hearing. $(09/14/21~{\rm Tr.}$ at 57.)

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