02/29/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0171

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 22-0171

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

CHINA ROSE DAWN DAVIS,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County, The Honorable Ashley Harada, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General TAMMY K PLUBELL Assistant Attorney General 215 North Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026 tplubell@mt.gov

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

The district court imposed a legal sentence when it ordered Davis to pay restitution in the amount to which she agreed. Davis waived the claim that she

raises for the first time on appeal that the district court erred when it did not pronounce her restitution obligation to run jointly and severely with the restitution obligations of her accomplices. The fate of Davis's accomplices is immaterial to the district court's authority to impose full restitution on Davis.

ARGUMENT

I. The standard of review

A district court has broad discretion in determining the admissibility of evidence, and this Court reviews the district court's rulings for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Strizich*, 2021 MT 306, ¶ 17, 406 Mont. 391, 499 P.3d 575. A district court abuses its discretion if it "acts arbitrarily or unreasonably, resulting in substantial injustice." *Id.* quoting *State v. Holland*, 2019 MT 128, ¶ 8, 396 Mont. 94, 443 P.3d 519.

This Court reviews a district court's sentence imposed in a criminal case for legality only and confines its review to whether the sentence is within statutory parameters. *State v. Workman*, 2005 MT 22, ¶ 11, 326 Mont. 1, 107 P.3d 462.

II. The district court properly exercised its discretion in admitting the crime scene photographs.

This Court has long held that photographs are admissible if they fairly and accurately represent relevant evidence. *State v. Austad*, 197 Mont. 70, 82, 641 P.2d

1373, 1380 (1982). Pictures of the crime scene are admissible, "if in the determination of the court, they aid the jury in its fact-finding process." *State v. Gratzer*, 209 Mont. 308, 321, 682 P.2d 141, 148 (1984). As this Court explained in *State v. Sigler*, 210 Mont. 248, 256, 688 P.2d 749, 753 (1984), "where the purpose of the photographic exhibit is to assist the jury in understanding the case, it is admissible, even thought its effect may be prejudicial or inflammatory, if its probative value outweighs its prejudicial effect." Photographs are admissible for the purpose of explaining and applying the evidence. *State v. Mergenthaler*, 263 Mont. 198, 205, 868 P.2d 560, 564 (1994).

Here, Davis objected to any photograph that depicted any part of Carl's dead body and any portion of the pool of blood from the gunshot wound to Carl's head. In other words, Davis wanted to sanitize Carl's homicide for the jury. But this Court has explained, "We will not demand that a trial be sanitized to the point that important and probative evidence must be excluded." *State v. Gollehon*, 262 Mont. 293, 302, 864 P.2d 1257, 1262 (1993), quoting *State v. Doll*, 214 Mont. 390, 400, 692 P.2d 473, 478 (1985).

Davis argued below and seemingly argues on appeal that the photographs were unnecessary because Eder admitted he shot Carl and the medical examiner testified that Carl died from a gun shot wound to the head. Davis therefore argues there is little probative value to the photographs to which she objected. Under

Davis's reasoning, photographs of a homicide victim from the crime scene would never be admissible because there would always be a medical examiner to testify about the cause of death and an investigating officer to testify about observations from the crime scene. This Court has never made such a sweeping holding and instead leaves admissibility of crime scene photographs to the broad discretion of the trial court since the trial court is familiar with the contested facts before it.

State v. Dunfee, 2005 MT 147, ¶ 26, 327 Mont. 335, 114 P.3d 217; see also State v. English, 2006 MT 177, ¶ 52, 333 Mont. 23, 140 P.3d 454 (Although the victim's death was not in dispute, her injuries, as depicted in photographs at issue on appeal, may have been useful to the jury in understanding the manner in which the victim was injured.).

Davis claims there was "no need to prove the manner of Carl's death."

(Appellant's Br. at 30.) Davis is mistaken. For starters, the State charged Davis with felony murder. To prove the charge against Davis, the State had to prove a murder. Davis did all that she could at trial to distance herself from the homicide and to portray herself as a victim of Eder's emotional abuse. The circumstances surrounding Carl's death were all critical to the State's ability to meet its burden of proof that Davis was guilty of felony murder.

Eder's and Davis's credibility was an issue the jury had to resolve in reaching a verdict on the felony murder charge against Davis. *See State v. McCoy*,

2021 MT 303, ¶ 30, 406 Mont. 375, 498 P.3d 1266 (Determinations of credibility are within the exclusive province of the jury.). And this Court has recognized that crime scene photographs, though graphic, are admissible to corroborate the testimony of witnesses. *Gollehon*, 262 Mont. at 301, 864 P.2d at 1262. Here, Eder testified that he was hesitant to participate in Davis's robbery scheme, but after he reluctantly agreed, he suggested that he could get some bear spray. Davis admitted to detectives that she rejected Eder's suggestion that he could get some mace and told Eder he needed to bring a gun. At trial, Davis denied that she had ever instructed Eder to get a gun. In fact, despite her detailed statement to the detectives, Davis claimed she had only asked Eder to line up a ride for her after she stole Carl's meth. At trial, Davis proclaimed surprise that Eder came to the motel room with a gun and shock that he used it to shoot Carl in the head.

Eder testified that he believed Davis was in danger and he intended to go into the motel room to get her out of harm's way. He did not intend to use the gun, but only intended to collect Davis, who he believed Carl was holding against her will. During Davis's statement to the detectives, Davis admitted to manipulating Eder into believing she was in danger and felt unsafe because Eder was so reluctant to help her with the robbery. During the trial though, Davis could not seem to recall suggesting to Eder that she felt unsafe and testified there was no reason for Eder to protect her from Carl.

Eder testified that by the time he got to the Tiger Town Motel, his conversations lead him to believe that Carl was going to rape Davis. Two of the photographs, to which Davis objected, established that Carl had his pants off and his boxer shorts were partially down near his knees, which clearly made Eder's concern for Davis's safety seem credible. (State's Exs. 87-88.)

Carl's placement between the two beds, lying face down, supports Eder's testimony that when Eder entered the room, Carl was lying on one of the beds. (State's Exs. 87-88.) Eder testified that Carl got up from a bed and lunged at Eder and the two struggled for the gun. The photograph labeled State's Exhibit 60 shows Carl's resting position in relation to the door of the motel room and corroborates Eder's testimony that Carl was lunging towards Eder, who had just entered the motel room. Eder testified that after the gun went off, he knew that Carl had been hit because a piece of the top of his scalp had come off. (9/14/21 Tr. at 52.) In making its determination, the jury was entitled to see where Carl was shot, which corroborated Eder's testimony. (*See* State's Ex. 98.)

And Davis testified at trial about the traumatic impact on her from Eder shooting Carl. She described her feelings of shock and emotional distress.

Importantly, though, Davis also admitted, out of necessity, that before she left the crime scene, she retrieved the package of meth from Carl's pants. At least one crime scene photograph captures the location of Carl's pants near the floor,

between the two beds, behind Carl's dead body, near his feet. (State's Ex. 82.) For Davis, who claimed to be traumatized, to get the meth from Carl's pants' pocket, she had to navigate around the pool of blood and Carl's dying or dead body.

Davis mistakenly claims that the photographs to which she objected where not probative of a single disputed element in her trial. (Appellant's 35.) To the contrary, the jury was the sole judge of credibility, and the photographs in question were relevant to making credibility determinations about Eder's and Davis's divergent testimony concerning the circumstances surrounding Carl's murder. In order to prove the felony murder charge, the State had to demonstrate for the jury that Davis was not a victim of Eder's emotional abuse, but rather was the person who came up with the plan to rob Carl, convinced Eder to get a gun, and then, when Eder had cold feet, manipulated him into believing that Carl was about to rape her. Davis urged the jury that she never meant to "rob" Carl, she only meant to take from him the meth she believed he owed her. Davis portrayed herself as a victim of Carl's greed and Eder's jealous possessiveness. The district court correctly recognized the probative value of the photographs Davis argued were inadmissible. Also, the district court cautioned the State to show each photograph briefly and quickly move on. There is nothing in the record to suggest that the State failed to comply with the court's requirement.

Finally, to the extent that Davis argues the photographs to which she objected were gruesome, murder scenes generally produce gruesome photographs. This Court has recognized as much. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Devlin*, 251 Mont. 278, 283, 852 P.2d 185 (1991). And as this Court has also recognized, the reality portrayed in crime scene photographs does not automatically make them more prejudicial than any other testimony or evidence. *Austad*, 197 Mont. at 83, 641 P.2d at 1380. Davis has failed to prove that the district court abused its discretion when it found that the photographs in question were more probative than prejudicial.

Even so, the State believes it is necessary to address Davis's claim that the State would not be able to prove that the admission of one or more of the photographs at issue here resulted in harmless error. Davis argues that the photographs at issue "were part of an extremely aggressive prosecution of China by the State to make her appear a criminal mastermind who orchestrated Carl's murder." (Appellant's Br. at 35.) Ironically, Davis's statement seemingly makes the State's case that the photographs at issue were highly probative. Even more important though is how the timing of when the State charged Davis disproves her accusation. The State did not charge Davis with felony murder until over a year after the homicide and *after* Davis gave her statement to Detectives Burch and Fritz on June 18, 2020—the statement that *she initiated*. (*See* State's Exs. 214, 214-A; 9/15/21 Tr. at 82-83.) As Davis recognized in her text message to Crystal after she

talked with the detectives, Davis sunk herself. Davis's own admissions to the detectives were admissible at trial and far more prejudicial than any of the crime scene photographs of which she complains. (*See* State's Ex. 215-A.)

Finally, to the extent that Davis accuses the prosecutors of misconduct during their opening statement and/or closing argument, (*see* Appellant's Br. at 36-37), she has not raised that issue on appeal and it is improper for Davis to tease the Court with an unraised, and unproven claim of alleged prosecutorial misconduct in attempting to establish that the photographs at issue were more prejudicial than probative.

Since the district court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the photographs at issue here, there is no need for this Court to embark on a harmless error analysis. But even if it were to do so, Davis's 2020 interview with the detectives that *she initiated* was both admissible and far more prejudicial to Davis than any other piece of evidence admitted at trial.

III. The district court imposed a legal sentence when it ordered Davis to pay the restitution figure she agreed she should pay and never requested that her restitution obligation be jointly and severally liable with her codefendants' restitution obligations.

When the district court sentences a criminal defendant, it must require the defendant to pay restitution to fully compensate a victim for pecuniary loss, supported by evidence in the record, that the defendant caused by her criminal

conduct. *State v. Pierre*, 2020 MT 160, ¶ 12, 400 Mont. 283, 466 P.3d 494, citing Mont. Code Ann. §§ 46-18-201(5), and -243(1). Davis affirmatively agreed to pay restitution in the amount of \$9,945.67. Davis does not challenge the restitution amount on appeal.

Rather, for the first time on appeal, Davis argues that the district court erred when it did not order Davis's restitution obligation to be jointly and severally liable with the restitution obligations of Eder and Reimers. Davis did not make such a request at the sentencing hearing. Davis argues, however, that it is appropriate for the Court to consider this issue raised for the first time on appeal under the principles of *State v. Lenihan*, 184 Mont. 338, 602 P.2d 997 (1979), because the district court's failure to order Davis's restitution obligation to be jointly and severally liable with Eder's and Reimer's obligations resulted in an illegal sentence. Davis is mistaken.

This Court generally "will not put a district court in error for failing to address an issue or an argument that was not made before it." *State v. Simpson*, 2014 MT 175, ¶ 11, 375 Mont. 393, 328 P.3d 1144, quoting *State v. David C. Johnson*, 2011 MT 116, ¶ 21, 360 Mont. 443, 254 P.3d 578. Although, under *Lenihan*, this Court will review an unpreserved claim that a criminal sentence is illegal, "a sentencing court's failure to abide by a statutory requirement rises to an

objectionable sentence, not necessarily an illegal one " *Simpson*, ¶ 11, quoting *State v. Kotwicki*, 2007 MT 17, ¶ 13, 335 Mont. 344, 151 P.3d 892.

Here, it was not the district court that failed to abide by a statutory provision, rather, it was Davis. As this Court recognized in *Workman*, ¶ 19, the district court's authority to impose the full amount of restitution on a defendant for the victim's entire pecuniary loss derives from Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-141(1). The Court further explained that whether one defendant of a crime should bear full responsibility for the pecuniary loss a victim sustained rather than a proportionate share among codefendants is an issue that follows the contours of civil law. *Id*. Montana Code Annotated § 46-18-244(2) provides that an offender "may assert any defense that the offender could raise in a civil action for the loss for which the victim seeks compensation."

Davis did not raise any civil defense at sentencing, and thereby waived the argument she now raises on appeal. The district court legally ordered Davis to pay restitution in the full amount. As this Court explained in Workman, the fate of Davis's accomplices is immaterial to the district court's authority to impose full restitution. *Workman*, ¶ 19. Because the district court imposed a legal sentence, this Court should decline to consider Davis's claim that the district court erred when it did not order that her restitution obligation was jointly and severely liable to the restitution obligations of Eder and Reimers.

CONCLUSION

Davis has failed to prove that the district court abused its discretion when it

admitted crime scene photographs when the probative value of the photographs

outweighed any prejudicial impact. Davis challenges the district court's restitution

order for the first time on appeal but has failed to demonstrate that the district court

imposed an illegal sentence when it did not orally pronounce that Davis's

restitution obligation was jointly and severely liable with Eder's and Reimer's

restitution obligations. The State respectfully requests that this Court affirm

Davis's conviction for felony murder and the lawful sentence the district court

imposed.